RECEIVED  
MAR 09 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-40-7392  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001728

Frank "Doc" Haynie.....Appellant,

v.

The City of Forest Acres, Mark W. Williams, Shaun Greenwood, and Clark Frady, in their  
individual capacities.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Lewis Cromer & Associates, L.L.C.  
J. Lewis Cromer, Esquire (#1470)  
J. Paul Porter, Esquire (#100723)  
1418 Laurel Street  
Post Office Box 11675  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
Phone 803-799-9530  
Fax 803-799-9533

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER OR NOT THE CIRCUIT COURT COMMITTED ERROR OF LAW IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON APPELLANT'S NEGLIGENCE CLAIM, BASED ON A THEORY OF NEGLIGENT SUPERVISION, AGAINST THE RESPONDENT CITY BECAUSE SOME OF THE EVENTS UNDERLYING THE CLAIM OCCURRED OUTSIDE OF THE CITY'S PREMISES AS THE RESULT OF ACTIONS OF THE INDIVIDUAL RESPONDENTS OUTSIDE OF THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF THEIR EMPLOYMENT AND FOR WANT OF SUFFICIENT RECORD EVIDENCE OF FORESEEABILITY?
  
- II. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO APPELLANT'S CIVIL CONSPIRACY CLAIM PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. 15-78-70(a) BASED ON THE EVIDENCE SUBMITTED BY APPELLANT THAT THE INDIVIDUAL RESPONDENTS WERE ACTING OUTSIDE OF THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF THEIR EMPLOYMENT?
  
- III. DO THE LOWER COURT'S RULINGS IN THIS CASE: GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO ONE SET OF RESPONDENTS, THE INDIVIDUAL RESPONDENTS, ON THE BASIS THAT THEIR ACTIONS WERE WITHIN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF THEIR EMPLOYMENT; WHILE ON THE OTHER HAND, PREMISING ITS SUMMARY JUDGMENT RULING FOR THE RESPONDENT CITY ON THE FINDING THAT THOSE INDIVIDUAL RESPONDENTS ACTED OUTSIDE THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF THEIR EMPLOYMENT CONSTITUTE A REVERSIBLE MISAPPLICATION OF THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Frank “Doc” Haynie, filed this action on November 2, 2012 alleging negligence/gross negligence against the Respondent City of Forest Acres (“Respondent City”) and civil conspiracy against respondents Mark Williams, Shaun Greenwood, and Clark Frady (“Individual Respondents”). (R. pp. 26-32). Appellant is a licensed general contractor. (R. p. 27, at ¶ 6). The Individual Respondents are employees or former employees of the Respondent City; respectively: Respondent Williams is the City Administrator, Respondent Greenwood was the Assistant City Administrator, and Respondent Frady is a former building official. (R. pp. 26-27, at ¶¶ 3-5).

The Respondent City filed its motion for summary judgment on December 23, 2013, and the Individual Respondents filed their motion for Summary Judgment on December 26, 2013. (R. pp. 70-796). Appellant opposed those motions. (R. pp. 797-878). Those motions were heard by the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. on February 21, 2014. (R. pp. 43-69). Thereafter, the parties served competing proposed orders. (R. pp. 946-978). The Honorable Judge Cooper filed the separate proposed orders submitted by the Respondents on April 15, 2014 granting summary judgment on both claims. (R. pp. 7-25). Appellant subsequently filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCPC motion to reconsider on April 28, 2014; that motion was denied on June 30, 2014. (R. pp. 5-6, 979-989).

## FACTS

Appellant has been a licensed general contractor for approximately 40 years. (R. p. 109, Lines 7-11). Beginning in 2007, the Respondent City’s Code Enforcement Office began to monitor Appellant in a “hyper-vigilan[t]” manner as both a resident and contractor within the Respondent City. (R. p. 841, at ¶ 5). A former inspector for the Respondent City, Reverend

Barry Epps testified that he had standing instructions “to go regularly by the property to check it, not necessarily because [of] complaint[s].” (R. p. 608, Lines 16-18). Rev. Epps further testified that he was instructed to inspect Appellant’s property excessively and more than other properties by comparison. (R. pp. 609, Line 23 – 610, Line 2). In his Affidavit, Rev. Epps stated that he was instructed to monitor Appellant’s home, check in his dumpsters, and find evidence of code violations committed by Appellant; however, he “never uncovered any major code or other violations on the part of [Appellant].” (R. p. 842). Rev. Epps also stated, in his affidavit, that Respondent Greenwood directed him to ticket cars parked in Appellant’s yard, but not similarly parked cars in other yards; even though ticketing cars was wholly outside of Rev. Epps’ jurisdiction. (R. p. 842, at ¶ 10). Rev. Epps further testified that Respondent Williams once remarked to him “I have no use for [Appellant].” (R. p. 610, Lines 13-22).

Respondent Frady became the Respondent City’s building inspector on March 8, 2010 and the monitoring intensified and continued throughout his tenure which concluded on December 31, 2012. (R. p. 846, Lines 3-6). Margo Pierce (“Pierce”), the former city clerk for the Respondent City, stated, by affidavit, that Respondents Williams and Greenwood “direct[ed] first inspector Mr. Barry Epps and later inspector Mr. Frady to monitor [Appellant] in a hyper-vigilant manner,” and that “the manner in which they were asked to monitor [Appellant] was uncommon compared to other builders in the community;” Pierce surmised that the same amounted to a “witch-hunt” toward Appellant. (R. pp. 848-849, at ¶¶ 7, and 10).

Appellant complained that he was being targeted and harassed by the Respondent City’s officials to the Respondent City’s Mayor, two City Councilmen, and the City Attorney placing them on notice of the same. (R. pp. 74-76, a ¶¶ 3, 5, 6, and 8; and pp. 138, Line 18 – 139, Line 17). Despite Appellant’s complaints to the City’s governing authority, the conduct continued,

Pierce stated, in her affidavit, that the Individual Respondents regularly asked about when Appellant's building permits were to expire, and on one such occasion she recalled that either Respondent Williams or Greenwood stated "We'll get him now." (R. p. 849, at ¶ 9).

On one occasion, Respondent Frady placed a stop work order on a 10 by 20 foot storage shed Appellant was building on his own property. (R. pp. 180, Line 23 – 181, Line 2). Respondent Frady cited the shed for improper footings susceptible to uplift; Respondent Frady requested that the footings for the 200 square foot shed be placed three feet in the ground and encased in 2 feet of concrete. (R. pp. 112, Line 4-7; 183, Line 5-8; and 187, Line 16 – 188, Line 19). Appellant, who has an Industrial Engineering Degree from Georgia Tech, researched and find that the sole building code section dealing with footing only stated that footings needed to be deep enough not to kick out of the ground. Appellant thought Respondent Frady's citation was suspect and requested that Respondent Frady cite specific codes sections in support of the same. *Id.* Respondent Frady then cited to a section in the code book which states generally that a contractor shall abide by the building inspector's wishes, and maintained the stop work order. *Id.*

Appellant appealed Respondent Frady's decision to the Respondent City's Code Board of Appeals. (R. p. 204, Line 9-11). Respondent Frady met with the Code Board of Appeals' members prior to the hearing to persuade them to vote against Appellant. (R. pp. 848 ¶ 6, and 855). Specifically, Respondent Frady "told [the board members] his side of the case and how he wanted it handled." (R. p. 857). The Code Board of Appeals ruled against Appellant, without stating their grounds.<sup>1</sup> (R. pp. 204, Line 17 – 205, Line 15).

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant subsequently had a certified engineer verify the shed's integrity and scaled it back to a 10 by 10 foot structure to resolve the stop work order against him. (Haynie Dep. p. 103:16-19); (Aft. of Holloway, ¶ 6); (Excerpts from Engineer Report).

Weeks after the appeal hearing, several Forest Acres police officers and Respondent Frady reported to Appellant's home at 7:30 on a Monday morning over misplaced yard rubbish. (R. pp. 202, Line 2 – 203, Line 20; and 213, Line 2 – 214, Line 4). Appellant received four citations that day for various alleged infractions including high grass (that was not on his property), and rubbish. *Id.*

Appellant lost contracts as a result of the Respondents' actions including a \$60,000 contract with a long time customer who would not hire him for fear of undue interruption and delay caused by the Individual Respondents' sentiment toward Appellant. (R. pp. 134, Line 9 – 135, Line 24). The Individual Respondents also encouraged a customer of Appellant, Nassar Alquza ("Alquza"), to terminate Appellant, and that customer did so. (R. pp. 200, Line 15 – 201 Line 12). Before he was terminated from the Alquza job, Respondent Frady requested design changes to the bathroom after the inspection for the lay out had already been approved; such a request was uncommon. (R. pp. 873 Line 7 – 874, Line 21). Paul Cowles, a subcontractor on the Alquza job, testified that after Alquza terminated Appellant he witnessed Respondent Frady joking with Alquza at Appellant's expense while Alquza was pulling his own permit for the subject job. (R. p. 744 Line 2 – 18). Once Appellant was no longer the contractor on the Alquza job, Respondent Frady stated that the design changes, he had requested earlier, need not be made to the broad magnitude he had earlier required. (R. pp. 868, Line 5 – 870, Line 20). Respondent Frady then admonished the plumbing contractor on that job, David Cook, "You better be careful if you're still doing work with Appellant." (R. pp. 871, Line 22 – 872, Line 7).

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is an appeal from the lower Court's decision to grant the Respondents' Rule 56(c) Motions for Summary Judgment, and to deny the Appellant's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or

Amend that ruling. Rule 56(c), SCRPC; Rule 59(e), SCRPC. “An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC.” *Sea Cove Development, LLC v. Harbourside Community Bank*, 387 S.C. 95, 101, 691 S.E.2d 158, 161 (2010). “On appeal from summary judgment, the reviewing court must consider the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. The judgment may be affirmed only if there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” *Singletary v. The Aetna Casualty & Surety Co.*, 316 S.C. 199, 200, 447 S.E.2d 869, 870 (Ct. App. 1994). When “the appeal is from the granting of summary judgment, there must be no genuine issue of fact . . . in order for the judgment to be affirmed.” *SCNB v. Southern Polymers, Inc.*, 313 S.C. 246, 248, 437 S.E.2d 148, 149 (Ct. App. 1993).

“In determining whether a genuine issue of fact exists, a court must consider everything in the record . . .” *Gilmore v. Ivey*, 290 S.C. 53, 58, 348 S.E.2d 180, 183 (Ct. App. 1986). “In cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.” *Hancock v. Mid-South Management Co. Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 673 S.E.2d 801 (2009). “Moreover, since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment should be cautiously invoked so that a litigant will not be improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues.” *Englert, Inc. v. LeafGaurd USA, Inc.*, 377 S.C. 129, 133-34, 659 S.E.2d 496, 498 (2008).

## ARGUMENT

As relevant to this Appeal<sup>2</sup> and to Appellant's negligence/gross negligence claim, the Circuit Court held that because the actions of the Individual Respondents, acting outside of the scope of their employment, occurred outside of the City's physical premises the Respondent City, the City was entitled to Summary Judgment. (R. p. 21). The Court further concluded that there was not sufficient evidence of record of foreseeability.<sup>3</sup> (R. pp. 21-22). As to Appellant's civil conspiracy claim, the Circuit Court held that there was insufficient evidence that the Individual Respondents were acting outside of the course and scope of their employment with the Respondent City, and that therefore the South Carolina Tort Claims Act barred liability. (R. pp. 12-13). For the reasons that follow, the lower Court's ruling was reversible error.

### I. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DECISION TO GRANT SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON APPELLANT'S NEGLIGENCE CLAIM WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR BASED ON THE EVIDENCE OF RECORD AND THE GOVERNING LAW.

Negligence requires: (1) a duty of care owed by the defendant to the plaintiff, (2) a breach of that duty by the defendant, (3) that the breach was the proximate and cause in fact of the plaintiff's injury, and (4) damages caused by the breach. *Steike v. South Carolina Dep't of Labor, Licensing and Regulation*, 336 S.C. 373, 520 S.E.2d 142 (1999). Gross Negligence is the failure to exercise a slight degree of care, it involves an intentional, conscious failure to do something which one ought to do or the doing of something one ought to not do. *See, Clark v.*

---

<sup>2</sup> The Lower Court also ruled, that actions occurring outside of the Respondent City's two year statute of limitations, including any claim for negligent hire, were not actionable. (R. pp. 18-19). Appellant stipulated to this contention, but maintains that occurrences more than two years prior to the date this action was filed are suitable evidence for the context of actionable occurrences within the subject statute of limitations.

<sup>3</sup> Last, the Court held that Appellant had not established an equal protection clause cause of action, Appellant did not allege an equal protection violation, and the elements of an equal protection violation are distinct from the elements of a negligence/gross negligence claim; therefore, this holding is irrelevant and need not be addressed. (R. pp. 22-25)(citing, *State v. 192 Coin-Operated Video Game Machines*, 338 S.C. 176, 200, 525 S.E.2d 872, 885 (2000).

*South Carolina Dep't of Safety*, 362 S.C. 377, 608 S.E.2d 573 (2005); *see also*, *Jinks v. Richland County*, 355 S.C. 341, 585 SE.2d 281 (2003). Generally, gross negligence is a factually controlled concept whose determination best rests with the jury. *Faile v. South Carolina Dep't of Juvenile Justice*, 350 S.C. 315, 566 S.E.2d 536 (2002). Negligent supervision cases "generally turn on two fundamental elements – knowledge of the employer and foreseeability of harm to third parties." *Doe v. ATC, Inc.*, 367 S.C. 199, 206, 624 S.E.2d 447, 450 (Ct. App. 2004). A court should deny summary judgment where a "reasonable fact-finder could find that the employer's conduct has fallen below the acceptable standard." *See, Id.*

**A. That events giving rise to Appellant's negligence claim occurred outside of the Respondent City's physical premises was not a suitable ground for summary judgment.**

That the actions complained of here occurred outside of the Respondent City's physical premises, and as the result of actions outside of the Respondent City's employees employment is not dispositive. The Court relied on the holding in *Degenhart v. Knights of Columbus* to reason that the Respondent City could not be held liable for the actions of the Individual Respondents. 309 S.C. 114, 116, 420 S.E.2d 495, 496 (1992). The lower Court misapplied *Degenhart*.

The Circuit Judge reasoned:

The Court in *Degenhart* found that an employer may be liable for negligent supervision if the employee intentionally harms another when the employee: (1) is upon the premises of the employer, or is using a chattel of the employer, (2) the employer knows or has reason to know that he has the ability to control his employee, and (3) the employer knows or should know of the necessity and opportunity for exercising such control.

(R. p. 21)(citing, *Degenhart*, at 115-17; and Restatement (Second) of Torts § 317 (1965).

However, the cited portion of the *Degenhart* decision states the following verbatim:

An employer may be liable for negligent supervision if the employee intentionally harms the employee when he: (i) is upon

the premises in possession of the [employer] or upon which the [employee] is privileged to enter only as his [employee], or (ii) is using a chattel of [the employer], and . . . [the employer] (i) knows or has reason to know that he has the ability to control his [employee] and (ii) knows or should know of the necessity and opportunity of the necessity and opportunity for exercising such control.

*Degenhart*, 114 S.C. at 115-117 (bracket modifications original)(emphasis added); *citing*, Restatement (Second) of Torts § 317 (1965). Thus the lower Court, and the Respondent City in its proposed order, left out a key portion of the *Degenhart* analysis which fits the facts of this case. (R. pp. 21, 974).

The record evidence indicates that the intentional conduct giving rise to Appellant's negligence claim occurred, in part, on job sites that the Individual Respondents were privileged to enter as a component of their employment.<sup>4</sup> *See, Degenhart*, 114 S.C. at 115-117. Appellant proffered evidence that the Respondent City's employees, namely the Individual Respondents, harassed and targeted him at his home and job sites causing him a loss of business and other damages. (*See, Facts supra*). The lower court's holding unduly restricts the *Degenhart* holding without a basis in the law; because, the holding overlooks the precedent's recognition that negligent supervision claims may lie where an employee is permitted to be at an off-premise location per his job duties. The evidence submitted, when viewed in the light most favorably to Appellant, sufficiently establishes a triable negligence/gross negligence claim, and a conclusion that the Individual Respondents acted outside of the scope of their employment is not legally preclusive. *Degenhart*, 114 S.C. at 115-117.

---

<sup>4</sup> The applicability of the evidence to the later *Degenhart* elements is discussed more fully in the foreseeability analysis *infra*. It is also necessary to note, that while some of the Individual Respondents' actions occurred off of the Respondent City's premises (particularly those of Respondent City who as a building inspector for the Respondent City was permitted access Appellant's job sites) many occurrences happened on the Respondent Cities' premises such as those of Respondents Williams and Greenwood. (*See, pp. 2-6 supra*).

**B. There is sufficient evidence of record of foreseeability.**

The final factors of the *Degenhart* analysis concern foreseeability: that the employer “(i) knows or has reason to know that he has the ability to control his [employee] and (ii) knows or should know of the necessity and opportunity of the necessity and opportunity for exercising such control.” *Id.* “Legal cause is proved by establishing foreseeability.” *Madison ex. Rel. Bryant v. Babcock Center Inc.*, 371 S.C. 123, 147, 638 S.E.2d 650, 662 (2006); *citing*, *Oliver v. S.C. Dept. of Highways and Pub. Transp.*, 309 S.C. 313, 316, 422 S.E.2d 128, 130 (1992); *Koester v. Carolina Rental Ctr., Inc.*, 313 S.C. 490, 493, 443 S.E.2d 392, 394 (1994). “Foreseeability is determined by looking to the natural and probable consequences of the complained of act, although it is not necessary to prove that a particular event or injury was foreseeable.” *Maddison*, 371 S.C. at 147; 638 S.E.2d at 662; *citing*, *Koester*, 313 S.C. at 493, 443 S.E.2d at 394; *Oliver*, 309 S.C. at 317, 422 S.E.2d at 131; *Childers v. Gas Lines, Inc.*, 248 S.C. 316, 325, 149 S.E.2d at 761,765 (1966). That is, legal cause is proven if the defendant should have foreseen that his negligence would probably cause injury to someone. *Hubbard v. Taylor*, 339 S.C. 582, 529 S.E.2d 549 (Ct. App. 2000). In a negligent supervision action, an employer owes a duty of care to a third party where the resulting harm could have been reasonably anticipated by the employer. *See, Rickborn v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 321 S.C. 291, 303, 468 S.E.2d 292, 299 (1996).

Appellant presented competent evidence that he complained about the conduct of the Individual Respondents to the Respondent City’s mayor, two of its councilmen, and City Attorney. (R. pp. 134, Line 18 – 135, Line 17). The City Attorney admitted to receiving Appellant’s complaints. (R. pp. 74-76, at ¶¶ 3, 5, 6, 8). Despite Appellant’s complaints, the complained of conduct continued. (*See, Facts supra*). Based on the evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to Appellant, a reasonable jury could conclude that the harm to Appellant caused

by the Individual Respondents could or should have been anticipated by the Respondent City.  
*See, Maddison*, 371 S.C. at 147; 638 S.E.2d at 662.

II. THERE IS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF RECORD THAT THE INDIVIDUAL RESPONDENTS ACTED OUTSIDE OF THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF THEIR EMPLOYMENT.

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