THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 09 2015

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court Of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

The Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Judicial Circuit Court Judge
Case No.: 2012-CP-40-07392

Appellate Case No. 2014-001728

Frank "Doc" Haynie.....Appellant,

v.

The City of Forest Acres, Mark M. Williams, Shaun Greenwood, and Clark Frady, in their individual capacities. Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT THE CITY OF FOREST ACRES

A. Johnston Cox (S.C. Bar No. 09081)
Janice Holmes (S.C. Bar No. 75038)
Jessica A. Waller (S.C. Bar No. 100256)
GALLIVAN, WHITE & BOYD, P.A.
Post Office Box 7368
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

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

Likewise, Haynie has failed to demonstrate that he has a valid cause of action for failing to prevent employees from “harassing, coercing and interfering with [his] daily activities.” Apparently, this allegation is based upon Haynie’s belief that Frady was wrong and overzealous in applying the City’s ordinances to the construction of the storage building and the issuance of several tickets in 2011. Even assuming that these actions somehow constituted a valid cause of action, as Williams stated in his affidavit, the only City employee at that time who was trained and knowledgeable regarding the building codes was Frady. Williams had insufficient knowledge upon which to overrule Frady’s interpretation of the Code. Instead, after listening and responding to Haynie regarding his concern, the City provided him the opportunity to appeal the interpretation of the Code to the Board. After losing the appeal, Haynie made the decision to not pursue the matter any further.

Similarly, Haynie agreed to plead guilty to one of the tickets written by Frady in exchange for the City nolle prosequing the other two charges. Notably, Haynie has not alleged

a malicious prosecution or wrongful arrest cause of action, and in fact would be barred from doing so as a result of his own decision to enter a guilty plea. *See Keenan v. Tejada*, 290 F.3d 252, 262 (5th Cir. 2002) (holding that if probable cause existed for any of the charges made, or if a reasonable police officer could believe probable cause existed, a false arrest/malicious prosecution claim fails); *see also Ruff v. Eckerds Drugs, Inc.*, 265 S.C. 563, 220 S.E.2d 649 (1975) (“It affirmatively appearing the respondent was guilty of the criminal offense of simple assault, he cannot successfully maintain this action for malicious prosecution.”). Despite his admission and acquiescence, Haynie is still attempting to litigate whether Frady acted “inappropriately” by issuing the tickets through a non-existent “harassment” cause of action. However, there is simply no cognizable cause of action against the City, and the circuit court should be affirmed.

2. *Haynie failed to present any evidence demonstrating that the alleged misconduct was foreseeable or that any harm to him could have been reasonably anticipated by the City.*

Furthermore, even if Haynie has presented valid causes of action and were permitted to be brought under the Act, they still must fail. Under South Carolina law, negligent supervision cases “generally turn on two fundamental elements—knowledge of the employer and foreseeability of harm to third parties.” *Doe v. ATC, Inc.*, 367 S.C. 199, 206, 624 S.E.2d 447, 450 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Di Cosala v. Kay*, 91 N.J. 159, 450 A.2d 508, 516 (1982)). Such cases are ripe and proper for summary judgment “when no reasonable factfinder could find the risk foreseeable or that the employer’s conduct has fallen below the acceptable standard.” *Doe*, 367 S.C. at 206, 624 S.E.2d at 450. Because the record is void of any evidence demonstrating that the City’s conduct fell below the acceptable standard, the City is entitled to summary judgment in its favor and the grant by the circuit court

should be affirmed.

While Haynie has presented no competent evidence of the individual City employees' alleged malfeasance, even assuming such evidence existed, he has failed to present any evidence that the City knew or should have known of the necessity to exercise control of them, including the City Administrator himself. Furthermore, Haynie has failed to present any evidence that the risk of harm to third parties was foreseeable. Mere speculation and conjecture that the City knew of any intentional and deliberate acts aimed at harming him is not enough. *See Harris Teeter, Inc. v. Moore & Van Allen, PLLC*, 390 S.C. 275, 299, 701 S.E.2d 742, 754 (2010) ("To survive summary judgment, the evidence presented must amount to more than mere speculation and conjecture."). Haynie has failed to present any competent evidence that the City's actions fell below the acceptable standard. In fact, even viewing the "evidence" upon which he relies in the light most favorable to him, he has failed to establish a genuine issue of material fact that would lead to a reasonable inference that the City was negligent. Therefore, because "no reasonable factfinder could find the risk foreseeable or the employer's conduct to have fallen below the acceptable standard," the circuit court properly granted the City's motion for summary judgment. *Doe*, 367 S.C. at 206, 624 S.E.2d at 450.

3. ***The City is entitled to immunity regarding its supervision of its employees.***

In addition, it is clear that the City exercised a comparable degree of discretion in choosing how and to what degree to supervise Frady and Greenwood, such that the City is entitled to discretionary immunity from suit pursuant to § 15-78-60(5) of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act (“the Act”). The Act “governs all tort claims against governmental entities” and provides “the exclusive civil remedy available for any tort committed by a governmental entity,” such as the City. *Hawkins v. City of Greenville*, 358 S.C. 280, 292, 594 S.E.2d 557, 563 (2004). Further, the Act has provisions that establish “limitations on and exemptions to the liability of [governmental entities that] must be liberally construed in favor of limiting liability of the State.” *Hawkins*, 358 S.C. at 292, 594 S.E.2d at 563 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-20(f)). It is Haynie’s burden “to present evidence of the [City]’s duty to act in order to recover under the Act.” *Id.* at 293, 594 S.E.2d at 564.

Under the Act, a governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from “the exercise of discretion or judgment by the governmental entity or employee or the performance or failure to perform any act or service which is in the discretion of the governmental entity or employee.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(5). “[T]he determination of immunity from tort liability turns on the question of whether the acts in question were discretionary rather than ministerial.” *Hawkins*, 358 S.C. at 294, 594 S.E.2d at 564. “A finding of immunity under the Act is contingent on proof the government entity, faced with alternatives, actually weighed competing considerations and made a conscious choice using accepted professional standards.” *Id.* at 294, 594 S.E.2d at 564 (quoting *Wooten ex rel. Wooten v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 333 S.C. 464, 468, 511 S.E.2d 355, 357 (1999)).

As Williams attested, Greenwood’s elevated position after receiving his Master’s ensured that Greenwood was capable of exercising his own judgment in the performance of

his duties and Williams made a conscious choice to lessen the degree of day-to-day supervision. Likewise, it is clear that Frady, who was under Greenwood's direct supervision, was properly and adequately supervised by the City through Williams, which supervision included sufficient interaction related to zoning, planning, and enforcement. Furthermore, with regard to Haynie's allegations that the City allegedly failed to respond to his concerns, he concedes that Williams received and responded to his emails and, in fact, scheduled a meeting before the Board to discuss the issues regarding the storage building. Thus, it is clear the City exercised its discretion in how to handle the dispute between Haynie and Frady over the Code interpretation. Therefore, the City is immune from suit, and the grant of summary judgment in the City's favor should be affirmed.

B. The circuit court properly granted summary judgment in the City's favor on Haynie's claim that it knowingly allowed disparate and unequal application of the building codes and ordinances to deny him the same or similar relief granted to numerous other residents and businesses located in Forest Acres.

The circuit court properly determined that the City was entitled to summary judgment on Haynie's claim that the City "knowingly" allowed Frady and Greenwood to selectively enforce the building code and city ordinances against him. While Haynie has presented no legal authority providing that such a cause of action is valid, even assuming that it is a valid cause of action, Haynie alleges an intentional tort. The City, however, is not liable for loss resulting from "employee conduct outside the scope of his official duties or which constitutes actual fraud, actual malice, *intent to harm*, or a crime involving moral turpitude." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(17) (emphasis added).

Haynie's allegations are circular. He alleges that the Individual Employees, including Williams, *intentionally* conspired for the purpose of injuring him. Civil

conspiracy is an intentional tort requiring specific intent to accomplish a contemplated wrong. *See Allegro, Inc. v. Scully*, 409 S.C. 392, 762 S.E.2d 54 (Ct. App. 2014) (“A civil conspiracy is a combination of two or more persons joining for the purpose of injuring and causing special damage to the plaintiff.”) (internal quotations omitted). An intentional tort cannot be committed through negligence. 16 Am Jur 2d Conspiracy § 51 (“Elements, agreement.”) *citing Young v. F.D.I.C.*, 103 F.3d 1180 (4th Cir. 1997) *cert. denied*, 118 S. Ct. 329 (U.S. 1997). Haynie has testified that Williams does not like him and has set out to injure him. (R. p. 143, ll. 21-25, p. 240, ll. 23-25 – p. 241, ll. 1-13). However, Williams is the person charged with supervising Frady and Greenwood. If, as Haynie claims and alleges, Williams was acting intentionally to injure him, the claim against the City must be dismissed pursuant to the above-referenced immunity provision of section 15-78-60(17) of the Tort Claims Act and the order of the circuit court must be affirmed.

Furthermore, in connection with the Individual Employees’ motion for summary judgment, the circuit court made specific findings that their alleged actions were taken within the course and scope of their employment and that they were not engaged in a “conspiracy” against Haynie. Haynie’s allegations regarding the City’s alleged negligence/gross negligence are solely premised upon the alleged actions make up this alleged conspiracy. Because the circuit court found that a civil conspiracy did not exist, the City cannot be liable to Haynie for negligent supervision. Therefore, the circuit court’s Summary Judgment Order should be affirmed.

C. Haynie has failed to allege a valid cause of action for violation of equal protection.

Notably, Haynie has not contended that any of the City's ordinances and regulations were invalid, which admittedly would be difficult for him to demonstrate on this record. See *Whaley v. Dorchester County Zoning Bd. of Appeals*, 337 S.C. 568, 575, 524 S.E.2d 404, 408 (1999) ("A municipal ordinance is a legislative enactment and is presumed to be constitutional.") (citing *Bibco Corp. v. City of Sumter*, 332 S.C. 45, 504 S.E.2d 112 (1998)). He also does not contend that the City enforced any of the ordinances in a discriminatory manner, and in fact, specifically states that "he did not allege an equal protection violation." See Initial Brief of Appellant, p. 7, n. 3. The record is also absent of any evidence demonstrating that the ordinances were invalid or unconstitutional. However, he, apparently, is contending that the City allegedly singled him out to ensure he complied with the City's ordinances, which means that allegedly others were not required to comply with those ordinances. Assuming that Haynie's Complaint could be construed to raise a claim for a violation for equal protection, the circuit court properly determined that Haynie failed to establish a valid cause of action under South Carolina law.

A claim of selective enforcement or selective prosecution is rooted in the Equal Protection Clause. To establish a claim of selective prosecution, Haynie must satisfy a two-pronged test. First, he must establish that "he has been singled out for prosecution while others similarly situated have not been prosecuted for conduct similar to that for which he was prosecuted." *State v. 192 Coin-Operated Video Game Machines*, 338 S.C. 176, 200, 525 S.E.2d 872, 885 (2000) (quoting *United States v. Catlett*, 584 F.2d 864, 864 (8th Cir. 1978)). Second, he "must demonstrate that the government's discriminatory selection of him for prosecution was based upon an impermissible ground, such as race,

religion or his exercise of his first amendment right to free speech.” *192 Coin-Operated*, 338 S.C. at 200, 525 S.E.2d at 885 (quoting *Catlett*, 584 F.2d at 865). In addition, “one seeking to show discriminatory enforcement ... must demonstrate arbitrary and purposeful discrimination in the administration of the law being enforced.” *Harbit v. City of Charleston*, 382 S.C. 383, 396, 675 S.E.2d 776, 782 (Ct. App. 2009).

Thus, “even assuming [the] City is not enforcing [an] ordinance equally, the fact that there is some unequal treatment does not necessarily rise to the level of a constitutional equal protection violation.” *Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston*, 359 S.C. 85, 96, 596 S.E.2d 917, 922 (2004) (holding that even if there is evidence in the record of unequal enforcement, any such evidence only rose to the level of the exercise of some selectivity in enforcement of the ordinance). Indeed, “‘the conscious exercise of selectivity in enforcement is not in itself a federal constitutional violation’ provided the selection is not ‘deliberately based upon an unjustifiable standard such as race, religion or other arbitrary classification.’” *Denene, Inc.*, 359 S.C. at 96, 596 S.E.2d at 922 (quoting *Oyler v. Boyles*, 368 U.S. 448, 456 (1962)). See also *Hill v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control*, 389 S.C. 1, 20, 698 S.E.2d 612, 622 (2010) (holding plaintiff failed to provide any evidence as to the identity of neighboring landowners and their alleged transgressions, such that he could not show that he was similarly situated or evidence of bias or discrimination).

Haynie has not properly pled or proven a cause of action for selective enforcement or selective prosecution. He has failed to plead that this alleged disparate treatment was based upon an impermissible ground, such as race, religion, or another impermissible

classification.⁷ He has neither pled nor proven that the City has failed to investigate or enforce codes and ordinances against similarly situated landowners or contractors.⁸ See *Hill*, 389 S.C. at 20, 698 S.E.2d at 622. Moreover, even assuming either the Individual Employees or the City were enforcing the Code and ordinances unequally, Haynie has failed to provide any evidence that the minimal selective enforcement, which is constitutionally permissible, was deliberately based upon an unjustifiable standard. See *Denene, Inc.*, 359 S.C. at 96, 596 S.E.2d at 922. In fact, Haynie cannot articulate any reason for the alleged disparate treatment, other than asserting that the Individual Employees “were just looking to get [him].” Therefore, the grant of summary judgment in the City’s favor should be affirmed.

⁷ Moreover, because Haynie is not a member of a suspect class, the ordinances and Code requirements for which he was cited need only have a rational basis to a legitimate government purpose. See *Denene, Inc.*, 359 S.C. at 92, 596 S.E.2d at 920.

⁸ As Greenwood testified “if [the officers] received a specific complaint, [they] would go by there at least to look at the property to assess if the call addressed a valid complaint or not.” (R. p. 496, ll. 10-16).

D. The grant of summary judgment in the City's favor should be affirmed because the City is entitled to Quasi-Judicial Immunity pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(1) and (2).

In granting the City's motion, the circuit court did not need to address the City's argument that it is entitled to quasi-judicial immunity pursuant to Section 15-78-60(1) and (2) of the South Carolina Code of Laws in granting its motion for summary judgment. However, the fact the City is entitled to such immunity provides an alternative ground upon which the circuit court's decision may be affirmed. Under South Carolina law, a governmental entity is not liable for a loss resulting from "legislative or judicial action or inaction" or "administrative action or inaction of a legislative, judicial or quasi-judicial nature." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-60(1) and (2).

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